
Parking Task & Finish Group 

15.3.10 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A G E N D AA G E N D AA G E N D AA G E N D A 
 

 
 

Committee - PARKING TASK AND FINPARKING TASK AND FINPARKING TASK AND FINPARKING TASK AND FINISH ISH ISH ISH 

GROUPGROUPGROUPGROUP 

Date & Time - Monday, 15th March, 2010 at 7.15 pm 

Venue - Attleborough Town Hall, Queen's 
Square, Attleborough 

 
 
 

Members 

Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mrs D.K.R. Irving 
Mrs S.M. Matthews (Chairman) 
Mr K. Martin 
Mr D.G. Mortimer 
 

Mr D.S. Myers 
Mrs P. Quadling 
Mr B. Rose 
Mrs P.A. Spencer 
 

 
 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

 
 
 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 

REQUESTREQUESTREQUESTREQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 

TELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONES    

Member Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Monday, 8 March 2010  
 

 
Contact:  Member Services DDI (01362) 656232 or 656343 

e-mail: sheila.cresswell@breckland.gov.uk  or  julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



Parking Task & Finish Group 

15.3.10 
 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  1 - 7 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 February 2010.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business.  
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in the following items on the Agenda.   
 
The Members’ Code of Conduct requires that declarations include the 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a personal or prejudicial interest. 
  
 

 

5. "IN PRINCIPLE" RECOMMENDATIONS   

 To consider the “In Principle” Resolutions (as listed at the end of the 
Minutes of the meeting held on 22 February 2010). 
  
 

 

6. NEXT MEETING   

 To agree a date and time for the next meeting.  
 

 

 



1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

PARKING TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
 

Held on Monday, 22 February 2010 at 10.00 am in 
Anglia Room, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  
Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mrs S.M. Matthews (Chairman) 
Mr K. Martin 
 

Mr D.G. Mortimer 
Mr B. Rose 
 

In Attendance  
Mark Broughton - Scrutiny Officer 
Sheila Cresswell - Committee Officer 

 
 
 Action By 

8/10 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)   
  
 It was pointed out that the reference to “British Rail” at the second 

bullet point on page 6, should have read “Network Rail”. 
 
Subject to this amendment, the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 
January 2010 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. 
  

 

9/10 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)   
  
 Apologies for absence were received from Diana Irving, Pauline 

Quadling and Pam Spencer. 
  

 

10/10 PARKING - REVIEW OF EVIDENCE (AGENDA ITEM 5)   
  
 The Scrutiny Officer presented the report which comprised a 

review of the evidence received and recommendations for the 
formulation of “in-principle” proposals.   
 
The report aimed to bring together the strands of the discussion 
held thus far, and it drew attention to the following: 
 

• that the group had met five times;   
 

• the various strands of evidence which had been received 
and discussed; 

 

• the site visits back in the summer, during which Members 
had examined conditions on the ground in all five market 
towns; and 

 

• that the Group had commissioned in-depth research from 
members of the UEA business school. 

 
He reminded Members that the original plan had been for them to 
review off-street car parking arrangements across the whole 
District, with the aim of putting forward recommendations to the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission in Spring 2010.  However the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

1



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

focus had changed - largely because Attleborough Town Council 
had registered particular concern about the off-street parking 
conditions and congestion problems in their town.   The Review 
had therefore concentrated on Attleborough initially.  He noted that 
off-street parking arrangements in the other four market towns 
(Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and Watton) still needed to be 
addressed.   
 
Other key points highlighted in the report included: 
 

• Historically Breckland District Council’s policy was for 
essentially free car parking across the district. 

 

• That there were some short-term Parking Orders in place 
across the District (though none in Attleborough).   
However few were currently enforced. 

 

• The ongoing Local Development Framework discussions 
meant that there would be considerable growth and 
development in Attleborough over the coming decade.  
Such expansion would inevitably have an impact on 
parking in the town. 

 

• The current key areas of parking provision were the 
Queen’s Square, Edenside and Horse Pit car parks, which 
were all Council-owned.  Parking was also available at the 
Railway Station and the two supermarkets (Sainsbury’s 
and Lidl).   

 

• There were capacity issues in terms of blocking of spaces, 
especially at key times.  Also some staff from Sainsbury’s 
were tending to park nearer to the store, rather than use 
the agreed allocated spaces at Connaught Hall.   

 
(As an aside at this stage, a Member pointed out 
that with the exception of the two supermarkets, 
who clearly contributed to the Attleborough’s 
overall parking facilities, very few other 
businesses in the town actually provided any car 
parking - whether for customers or staff.) 

 

• There was only a limited amount of on-street parking 
available in Attleborough as much of the town centre area 
had double yellow line markings. 
 

• Not much was known about Network Rail/National Express 
East Anglia’s plans to expand their own car parking 
facilities.    (The Scrutiny Officer had emailed both 
companies but had received no reply thus far.) 

 

• Members had noted some wear and tear issues, 
particularly at Edenside and the Horse Pit.    The Queen’s 
Square car park had had some remedial work done on it 
relatively recently, but there were still some areas which 
needed improvement.   

 

 
 
 
 
Mark 
Broughton  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

The Scrutiny Officer explained that the Appendices to the report 
were designed to draw together and summarise key findings. 

 
Appendix 1  :  Among other things, Appendix 1 highlighted the fact 
that at least two thirds of those parking in the town stayed for less 
than two hours, and that the majority of these were local residents.  
Also, the survey had revealed some paradoxes – acknowledging 
that there were problems, but not really giving any clear local 
consensus as to the best way forward.    
 
Appendix 2  :  Summarised the evidence the Group had received 
from various stakeholders. 
 
Appendix 3  :  Comprised an appraisal of various key options 
which had been identified by the Review, with some “in principle” 
recommendations.  The Scrutiny Officer explained that while the 
Review itself was Member-led, he felt it might be useful to have 
some ideas set out as guidance as Members started to formulate 
their recommendations. 
 
He highlighted a few key points: 
 
Queen’s Square Car Park 
 
The proposed re-design of the Queen’s Square car park was 
acknowledged as a good idea.  However, after brief consultation 
with the relevant Council Officers, it had become apparent that this 
would not be a straightforward undertaking.   It would not result in 
quite so many car parking spaces as the research had suggested.  
In addition, the car park fell within a Conservation Area and there 
were some Tree Preservation Orders on the site.   Any proposals 
to redesign the site would therefore be subject to the full planning 
process.   
 
Flexi-Bus 
 
The Scrutiny Officer had been in touch with Norfolk County 
Council (as the local transport authority).   There had been some 
considerable publicity at the outset of the scheme, including 
through the press and via local leaflet drops.    However current 
budget restrictions meant that further promotion prospects were 
limited for the foreseeable future.   
 
A Member said that he believed the original service and routes 
had now been expanded and that the Flexi-Bus scheme was 
popular and well used.   
 
Other Points 
 
It was acknowledged that the Town Council had played a key role 
in feeding into the Review, not least because they were on-site 
and were most directly affected by local parking problems and 
concerns. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

The Group also acknowledged the impact of the ongoing Local 
Development Framework (LDF) discussions, and their consequent 
impact on the town.  It was agreed that any recommendations on 
parking made to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, would 
need to be realistic at this stage, focussing on the current situation 
and medium-term future.   Future conditions were far less tangible, 
so short-term solutions would need to be flexible, recognising that 
parking arrangements in Attleborough would need to evolve over 
the coming years.    
 
Alongside LDF issues, there was also the potential 
decriminalisation of on-street car parking, which was likely to 
happen at some point in 2011.  This meant that enforcement 
would be transferred from the police authorities to Norfolk County 
Council.   The Police had indicated that they were in favour of 
residential parking charges.    However, Members had indicated 
that permit parking was not something that they would wish to 
recommend at this stage, not least as there would be further 
enforcement issues. 
  
It was acknowledged that the majority of users were looking to pop 
in to the town centre for appointments or to shop etc. During 
discussion Members therefore agreed that whilst there should be 
no change to Breckland’s overall policy (i.e. free parking), there 
should be some measures introduced in Attleborough to ensure 
increased turnover of spaces.   Instituting an enforcement regime 
was seen as a cost-effective and practical method to help alleviate 
some of the current frustrations.   Any income thus generated 
would be modest and would be ring-fenced to pay for enforcement 
or fed back into car park maintenance.     
 
It was understood that Attleborough Town Council were broadly in 
favour of a scheme similar to that currently operating in Swaffham 
i.e. an agency agreement providing a level of enforcement in key 
areas, thus freeing-up short-term parking spaces in town centre.    
 
The current arrangement with Swaffham cost in the region of 
£2,500 per year, with costs shared between the Town and District 
Councils.   An officer patrolled the car parks for a few hours per 
week on an ad hoc basis.  Members recognised that further 
discussions would need to be held with Attleborough Town 
Council. 
 
Members then discussed the length of time slots which should be 
available in the three main Breckland-owned car parks in 
Attleborough, acknowledging that there also needed to be some 
capacity for long-term parking in the town.    It was felt that a two 
hour time limit, in tandem with Sainsbury’s, might be the optimum 
approach.      
 
The Scrutiny Officer said he would double-check the arrangement 
with Swaffham Town Council to see how fines were handled, and 
income divided.  He would also check to see when the levels of 
fines was last reviewed, to see if it made sense to make any 
changes to reflect increased administrative costs.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mark 
Broughton 
 
 
 
 

4



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

5 

 Action By 

It was acknowledged that some remedial work would need to be 
done at the Edenside and the Horse Pit car parks, both of which 
were well-used, especially if some long term parking were to be 
allotted to these areas.   
 
Both Sainsbury’s and Lidl monitored their car parks, which 
provided a good support for the town’s facilities.   Members 
commented that there might be potential for at least some parking 
behind town centre businesses, thus freeing-up a few parking 
slots on the street side.    
 
It was felt that it would be crucial for Attleborough to be treated as 
something of a special case in terms of LDF discussion and all 
future planning cases.  It was unrealistic to follow current 
government guidelines about parking allocations when giving 
consideration to new developments - particularly flats - in the town 
centre: Attleborough was a rural town and, as such, it should be 
anticipated that few people would be able to manage without a 
car.   
 
There was further discussion around the general uncertainties of 
future development on the town, with recognition of the need to 
feed information gleaned thus far to the appropriate Planning 
officers in terms of LDF and Moving Attleborough Forward 
discussions.  It was pointed out, for example, that any future 
commercial development in the town may result in associated 
parking.   
 
With regard to the forthcoming decriminalisation of on-street 
parking, it was felt that the uncertainty about exactly when this 
would happen was not helpful.   Whilst currently a low police 
priority, any future discrepancy in handling between on- and off-
street parking regulations could potentially undermine any 
proposed local enforcement measures.  Unregulated on-street 
parking could quickly have a negative impact on the town’s 
congestion.   Double standards (i.e. with some, but not all, parking 
orders enforced) could also lead to public confusion.    On the 
positive side, it would be more cost-effective to run both on- and 
off-street parking enforcement schemes together.  Additionally, 
on-street parking slots could have a different time limit, e.g. an 
hour (as opposed to the likely two hours for the main car parks), 
which would be an obvious way of ensuring quick turnaround in 
prime spaces.   A Member suggested that it might be helpful if a 
senior officer could be asked to liaise direct with relevant Police 
and County Council officers, to press for an early indication of 
when decriminalisation would take effect.   
 
With reference to the proposal to have a school drop-off point in 
Queen’s Square car park, it was thought that this would probably 
not be very practical to isolate part of that car park at key times of 
the day.     
 
In pulling the discussion to a close, Members decided on the 
following “in principle” recommendations.   The Chairman 
confirmed that these would then be put to a public meeting to be 
held one evening in Attleborough.   Representatives from key 

Mark 
Broughton 

5



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

6 

 Action By 

relevant agencies would also be invited to attend this meeting 
(e.g. Police Authority, Norfolk County Council (Transport), etc). 
 
It was Agreed that the following “In Principle” Recommendations 
should be taken to the public meeting in Attleborough.   
 

• The Council’s overall ‘no charging policy’ would be 
maintained at present (in relation to Attleborough at least).  

 

• Given the uncertainties about the impact of future 
development in the town, the key aim at this stage was to 
achieve a faster turnover of short/medium term spaces in 
the centre of Attleborough. 

 

• Therefore a level of enforcement should be introduced to 
cover short-term parking arrangements in the centre of 
Attleborough.   The limit of the Parking Orders was yet to 
be decided.   However it was agreed that they should apply 
to spaces in the Queen’s Square and Horse Pit car parks.    

 

• The Edenside car park should remain available for long 
stay parking. 

 

• Enforcement could possibly be undertaken by a similar 
agency arrangement to that currently operating in 
Swaffham, in conjunction with their Town Council.     

 

• A senior member of the Council should be asked to liaise 
direct with appropriate colleagues at Norfolk County 
Council and the Police, in order to get clarification on when 
the proposed decriminalisation would take effect.  This 
would enable joined-up thinking, and money-saving, in 
respect of local enforcement.   

 

• Senior officers should also be asked to liaise direct with 
officials at National Express East Anglia and Network Rail, 
to ask for further information and details about their 
proposals for the car park at Attleborough railway station.     

 

• The proposed re-design of the Queen’s Square car park 
should be explored further at Officer level at this stage (to 
keep costs down).   

 

• The opportunity for enhanced signage to car parks 
(interactive signs) should be taken forward where possible 
through future development plans.   

 

• To ask Norfolk County Council for some further promotion 
of the Wayland Flexibus service in the area.   

 

• To recommend that money should be set aside to take 
remedial action to improve the standards of the Horse Pit 
and Edenside car parks.   

 

• To formally recommend that any future developments in 
the town centre (especially flats) should stress the 

6



Parking Task and Finish Group 
22 February 2010 

 
 

7 

 Action By 

importance of providing adequate parking provision.    If 
necessary, in terms of Government recommendations, 
Attleborough should be viewed as something of a ‘special 
case’ in this respect.   Results from the UEA Business 
School survey should be passed across to the Planning 
department in support of this request. 

  
11/10 NEXT MEETING   
  
 It was agreed that the next meeting should be in Attleborough one 

evening.  It would be open to members of the public and 
representatives from key external agencies would be invited to 
attend.   An advance notice about this meeting would appear in 
the press.   
 
The Chairman confirmed that there would be an opportunity for 
the input and views raised at the public meeting to be fed into the 
Group’s final report to Breckland Council’s Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission in April 2010.  If satisfied, the Commission would 
then pass the recommendations up to Cabinet for formal 
ratification.     
 
The date and time of this meeting was provisionally arranged for 
10th March, subject to confirmation. 
  

 
 
Mark 
Broughton 
 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 11.15 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

7


	Agenda
	1 Minutes

